# S274927

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA,

Petitioner,

v.

# THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA CLARA,

Respondent,

## DOCTORS MEDICAL CENTER OF MODESTO et al.,

Real Parties in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SIXTH APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. H048486

# OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

\*MITCHELL C. TILNER (BAR No. 93023)
PEDER K. BATALDEN (BAR No. 205054)
3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR
BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592
mtilner@horvitzlevy.com
pbatalden@horvitzlevy.com

#### HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

#### INTRODUCTION

The answer to the Court's question is "no." The Government Claims Act (Gov. Code, § 810 et seq.) does not immunize Santa Clara County (the County) from this action by two hospitals, Doctors Medical Center of Modesto, Inc. and Doctors Hospital of Manteca, Inc. (the Hospitals), seeking reimbursement for emergency medical services the Hospitals rendered to enrollees in the County's health care service plan.

As required by federal and state law, the Hospitals provided emergency medical services to three patients enrolled in Valley Health Plan, a health care service plan operated by the County and governed by the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 (Knox-Keene Act) (Health & Saf. Code, § 1340 et seq.). The Hospitals had no contract with the County governing the rates payable for emergency services rendered to Valley Health Plan enrollees.

The Hospitals submitted invoices to the County requesting reimbursement pursuant to the Knox-Keene Act, which requires health care service plans to reimburse noncontracted providers for the reasonable and customary value of emergency services rendered to plan enrollees. The County paid the Hospitals about 20 percent of the amount billed.

The Hospitals then filed this action against the County for breach of implied-in-law contract, alleging the County breached its statutory duty to fully reimburse the Hospitals for the emergency services they had rendered to the Valley Health Plan enrollees.

The County filed a demurrer, contending Government Code section 815, a provision of the Government Claims Act, immunized it from liability for underpaying the Hospitals. Section 815 states in pertinent part: "Except as otherwise provided by statute: [¶] . . . A public entity is not liable for an injury, whether such injury arises out of an act or omission of the public entity or a public employee or any other person."

The trial court overruled the demurrer. The Court of Appeal, however, granted the County's petition for writ of mandate, upholding the County's claim of immunity and directing the trial court to sustain the demurrer without leave to amend.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeal erred. This Court has held the immunity conferred by Government Code section 815 extends only to common law tort actions for damages. (*Quigley v. Garden* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeal's opinion is published. (See *County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court* (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 1018 (*Santa Clara*).) When discussing the opinion in this brief, the Hospitals cite to that published version.

Valley Fire Protection Dist. (2019) 7 Cal.5th 798, 803 (Quigley); City of Dinuba v. County of Tulare (2007) 41 Cal.4th 859, 867 (City of Dinuba).) The Hospitals' action is not a common law tort action, nor do the Hospitals seek damages. They allege the County violated a statutory duty, unknown at common law, to pay the amount of reimbursement to which the Hospitals were entitled under the Knox-Keene Act. And a public entity's payment of monies due under a statute is not "damages."

Even if Government Code section 815 would otherwise apply, section 815.6 of the Government Claims Act, to which section 815 yields, authorizes the Hospitals' action. Section 815.6 states, in pertinent part, that when a statute imposes on a public entity "a mandatory duty . . . designed to protect against the risk of a particular kind of injury, the public entity is liable for an injury of that kind proximately caused by its failure to discharge the duty . . . ." The County's refusal to fully reimburse the Hospitals as required by the Knox-Keene Act violated a mandatory duty, resulting in precisely the kind of injury the statutory scheme was designed to prevent: underpayment for emergency medical services the Hospitals were legally required to render.

This reading of the Government Claims Act is also consistent with the views of the Department of Managed Health Care (Department), the state agency charged with administering and enforcing the laws governing health care service plans. In other cases, the Department has argued that health care providers should have judicial recourse when disputes arise with

health care service plans over reimbursement for emergency medical services.

A decision upholding the County's claim of immunity would require this Court to depart from its precedents on the scope of the Government Claims Act and to reject the views of the Department. Additionally, in practical terms, such a decision would adversely affect California's emergency health care delivery system. This Court has recognized that "' "[d]enying emergency providers judicial recourse to challenge the fairness of a health plan's reimbursement determination[] allows a health plan to systematically underpay California's safety-net providers." '" (Prospect Medical Group, Inc. v. Northridge Emergency Medical Group (2009) 45 Cal.4th 497, 508 (Prospect), quoting Bell v. Blue Cross of California (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 211, 218 (Bell).) If the Court upholds the claim of immunity, the County would be free to systematically underpay emergency health care providers, secure in the knowledge that the provider will have no judicial recourse.

The Court should reaffirm its prior rulings on the scope of the Government Claims Act, respect the Department's views, and protect the viability of California's emergency health care delivery system by holding that the Government Claims Act does not immunize the County from the Hospitals' reimbursement action.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Background.

To assist the Court in better understanding the facts of this case and resolving the issue presented, the Hospitals begin with this brief overview of health care service plans and emergency medical services providers.

A health care service plan, also known as a health maintenance organization, or HMO (Hambrick v. Healthcare Partners Medical Group, Inc. (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 124, 132, fn. 2), is a contractual arrangement in which a private or public entity undertakes to arrange for the provision of medical services for the plan's enrollees, and to pay for those services, in exchange for the enrollee's prepayment or periodic payment of an agreed charge. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1345, subds. (f)(1), (j).) Health care service plans are governed by the Knox-Keene Act's comprehensive licensing and regulatory scheme. (Prospect, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 504.) The Department is charged with administering and enforcing the Act and related laws governing health care service plans. Toward that end, the Department also issues regulations. (See Health & Saf. Code, §§ 1341, 1344.)

Public entities and private companies alike operate health care service plans in California, and they compete in the health care marketplace. The Knox-Keene Act applies equally to both publicly and privately operated health care service plans. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1399.5.) As of 2017, the Department regulated 74 full-service (nonspecialized) health care service plans (vol. 3, exh. 26, p. 677, fn. 1, 680), of which 16 were county-

based plans (see Wilson, 2019 Edition—California's County-Based Health Plans (Aug. 12, 2019) California Health Care Foundation <a href="https://www.chcf.org/publication/2019-edition-californias-county-based-health-plans/">https://www.chcf.org/publication/2019-edition-californias-county-based-health-plans/</a> [as of Sept. 15, 2022]). As of June 2018, county-based plans together covered about 7.4 million Californians. (Ibid.)

California and federal law require every licensed hospital with an emergency department and qualified personnel to provide emergency medical services to any person requesting and requiring the services, regardless whether the person is insured or capable of paying for the services. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1317, subds. (a), (b); 42 U.S.C. § 1395dd, subds. (a), (b); Centinela Freeman Emergency Medical Associates v. Health Net of California, Inc. (2016) 1 Cal.5th 994, 1018.)

The Legislature and the Department have devised a process for compensating these emergency medical service providers. When a hospital provides emergency services to a patient enrolled in a health care service plan, but the hospital and the plan have no contract governing the rates payable for emergency services rendered to the plan's enrollees, the plan must reimburse the hospital for the "reasonable and customary value" of the emergency services. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 28, § 1300.71, subds. (a)(3)(B), (g); see Health & Saf. Code, § 1371.4, subd. (b).)

Disputes between providers and health care service plans over the proper amount of reimbursement are common. In its 2017 annual report, the Department reported more than one million "Claims Payment Disputes" between providers and health care service plans (not including county-operated plans). (Vol. 3, exh. 26, p. 680.) These disputes "primarily involve claims of inadequate reimbursement." (*Ibid.*)

B. The Hospitals sue the County for reimbursement under the Knox-Keene Act. The County claims immunity, but the superior court rejects that claim.<sup>2</sup>

The Hospitals are licensed acute-care hospitals in the Central Valley. (Vol. 2, exh. 12, p. 286.)

The County is a public entity. It operates Valley Health Plan, a health care service plan licensed by the Department and governed by the Knox-Keene Act. (Vol. 2, exh. 12, pp. 286, 288.)

In 2016 and 2017, the Hospitals provided emergency medical services to three patients enrolled in Valley Health Plan. (Vol. 2, exh. 12, pp. 287:7–9, 290–293.) At the relevant times, the Hospitals had no contract with the County governing the rates

The Court of Appeal directed the trial court to sustain the Hospitals' demurrer without leave to amend. (Santa Clara, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1035–1036.) On review of an order sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend, this Court "accept[s] as true all properly pleaded facts." (T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp. (2017) 4 Cal.5th 145, 156.) Also, where, as here, neither party petitioned the Court of Appeal for a rehearing, this Court may rely on facts recited in the Court of Appeal's opinion. (Prospect, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 502.) The facts recited in this section were properly pleaded in the Hospitals' operative third amended complaint or were recited in the Court of Appeal's opinion.

payable for emergency services rendered to Valley Health Plan enrollees. (Vol. 2, exh. 12, pp. 288:7, 289:8–9.)

The Hospitals submitted invoices to the County requesting reimbursement totaling approximately \$144,000, the reasonable value of the emergency services, under the Knox-Keene Act. (Vol. 2, exh. 12, pp. 290–293.) The County paid the Hospitals about \$28,500, roughly 20 percent of the billed total (*ibid.*), leaving a shortfall of more than \$110,000 (vol. 2, exh. 12, p. 285:24).

The Hospitals contested the reimbursement shortfall by submitting written administrative appeals to the County for the unpaid sums. (*Santa Clara*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 1025.) They contended the amounts the County paid did not represent the reasonable and customary value of the services rendered. (Vol. 2, exh. 12, p. 290.) The County denied the Hospitals' appeals. (*Ibid*.)

The Hospitals then filed this action against the County, seeking full reimbursement for the emergency services the Hospitals rendered to the three Valley Health Plan enrollees.

The Hospitals initially alleged tort and implied-in-fact contract causes of action. (*Santa Clara*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 1025.) The trial court sustained the County's demurrer to the tort causes of action alleged in the Hospitals' second amended complaint without leave to amend on the ground Government Code section 815 immunized the County from liability for common law tort claims. (*Ibid.*; vol. 2, exh. 11, p. 283.)

In their third amended complaint, the Hospitals alleged they provided emergency medical services to patients enrolled in Valley Health Plan; the County did not indicate it would not cover the patients' medical expenses; the County's conduct, the Knox-Keene Act and its implementing regulations, and ordinances approved by the County's board of supervisors gave rise to implied-in-fact and implied-in-law agreements between the Hospitals and the County obligating the County to pay the reasonable and customary rates for the care and treatment rendered by the Hospitals to the patients; the County acknowledged its implied contractual obligations by issuing partial reimbursement for the services rendered; and the County "failed to fully reimburse the [Hospitals] for the services rendered to the Patients at reasonable and customary rates as required by the Knox-Keene Act.'" (Santa Clara, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1025–1026; see vol. 2, exh. 12, pp. 293–294.)

The County demurred to the third amended complaint on the ground, among others, that the Government Claims Act immunized the County from liability for underpaying reimbursement owed under the Knox-Keene Act.<sup>3</sup> (Vol. 2, exh. 13; exh. 14, p. 304.)

The County also argued (1) the Knox-Keene Act entrusts the power to enforce the Act exclusively to the Department, and (2) claims for breach of implied contract and quantum meruit do not lie against a public entity. (Vol. 2, exh. 13, pp. 298–299; exh. 14, pp. 301–307.) Because this Court has limited the issue on review to whether the Government Claims Act immunizes the County from the Hospitals' reimbursement action, the Hospitals do not address the other grounds the County advanced to support its demurrer. The Hospitals do note, however, that a decision finding the County is not immune from a reimbursement action

The trial court overruled the County's demurrer. (Vol. 3, exh. 29, p. 737.) The court reasoned that "the public policy to promote the delivery and the quality of health and medical care to the people of the State of California," embodied in the Knox-Keene Act, "outweighs the policy to limit common law, or implied contract claims against public entities." (Vol. 3, exh. 29, p. 735.) When it chose to enter the highly regulated health care plan market, the County could not "expect to rely on a public policy regarding contracts as to public entities so that it can be exempted from those regulations." (Vol. 3, exh. 29, p. 736.)

The trial court observed that nothing in the Knox-Keene Act forecloses a private right of action in quantum meruit to enforce a provision of the Act (vol. 3, exh. 29, pp. 731–732), and that the Department itself had agreed that disputes over the value of reimbursement payable to noncontracted emergency providers should "'be resolved by the courts'" (vol. 3, exh. 29, p. 733).

# C. The Court of Appeal grants writ relief, upholding the County's claim of immunity.

The County filed a petition for writ of mandate, seeking to overturn the trial court's order. The Court of Appeal granted the

would necessarily establish that the power to enforce the Knox-Keene Act's reimbursement requirement does not rest exclusively with the Department, a proposition the Department itself has endorsed. (See *Children's Hospital Central California v. Blue Cross of California* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1260, 1273 (*Children's Hospital*), superseded by statute on another ground as stated in *Dignity Health v. Local Initiative Health Care Authority of Los Angeles County* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 144, 160–161.)

petition and directed the trial court to enter an order sustaining the County's demurrer without leave to amend "[b]ecause the county is immune from common law claims under the Government Claims Act, and the Hospitals do not state a claim for breach of an implied-in-fact contract." (Santa Clara, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1024–1025.)

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that, if the Hospitals had filed their complaint against a private health plan, the demurrer would have been overruled: "When all health care service plans involved in a dispute are *private* entities, a noncontracting provider can bring an action seeking reimbursement for the reasonable value of emergency services . . . on a quantum meruit theory." (*Santa Clara, supra,* 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 1028.)

The Court of Appeal held, however, that Government Code section 815 immunizes a public entity operating a health care service plan against such a quantum meruit action, and that no exception to the immunity applies. (*Santa Clara*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1028–1030.)

The court acknowledged that, as a result of its holding, an emergency provider "has greater remedies against a private health care service plan than it does against a public entity health care service plan." (Santa Clara, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 1032.) In the court's view, that asymmetric result was driven by the Legislature's decision to broadly immunize public entities against common law claims. (Ibid.) As noted above, however, nothing in the Knox-Keene Act suggests that the Legislature

intended to differentiate between public and private health care service plans when it comes to the obligation to pay for emergency services.

### LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. This Court and others have stressed the importance of allowing emergency medical service providers to maintain reimbursement actions against health care service plans.

Under state and federal law, emergency providers must render emergency medical services to patients in need. (See ante, p. 13.) In return, when the patient is enrolled in a health care service plan and the plan has no contract with the emergency provider, the Knox-Keene Act requires the plan to reimburse the provider for the reasonable and customary value of the emergency services. (*Ibid.*) Health and Safety Code section 1371.4, subdivision (b), the provision mandating reimbursement, was added to the Knox-Keene Act in 1994 "to ensure that California's citizens received proper care and to eliminate 'incentives for carriers to deny care and reduce payments to physicians.'" (*California Pacific Regional Medical Center v. Global Excel Management, Inc.* (N.D.Cal., June 4, 2013, No. 13–cv–00540 NC) 2013 WL 2436602, at p. \*7 [nonpub. opn.]; see *Bell, supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 216.)

As this Court has recognized, under this regime of reciprocal legal duties, disputes will inevitably arise over the amount emergency providers may charge and the amount noncontracting health care service plans must pay for emergency medical services. (*Prospect*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 505, 507.)

When such a dispute arises between an emergency provider and a *private* health care service plan, the provider may pursue an action in court on a quantum meruit theory against the health plan to recover the reimbursement to which the provider is legally entitled:

If a hospital . . . believes that the amount of reimbursement it has received from a health plan is below the "reasonable and customary value" of the emergency services it has provided, the hospital . . . may assert a quantum meruit claim against the plan to recover the shortfall.

(Long Beach Memorial Medical Center v. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc. (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 323, 335; accord, Prospect, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 505; San Jose Neurospine v. Aetna Health of California, Inc. (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 953, 958; Children's Hospital, supra, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1273; Bell, supra, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 213–214, 221.)

In *Bell*, for example, an emergency provider filed a class action against a private health care service plan, Blue Cross, seeking various remedies for the plan's failure to fully reimburse the provider for emergency services rendered to the plan's enrollees. (*Bell*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 214.) The trial court sustained the plan's demurrer and dismissed the action. The court ruled the Knox-Keene Act did not permit a private enforcement action, the provider could not maintain an action on a quantum meruit theory, and the provider had no express or implied right to recover specific amounts for emergency services rendered to the plan's enrollees. (*Id*. at pp. 214–215.)

The Court of Appeal reversed. It held the Knox-Keene Act allows emergency providers to pursue an action against a health plan on an implied-in-law contract theory to recover the reasonable value of the emergency services rendered to the plan's enrollees. (*Bell, supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at pp. 215, 221.)

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