Е

No. S274927

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA.

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA CLARA,

Respondent,

DOCTORS MEDICAL CENTER OF MODESTO, et al.

Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District Case No. H048486

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES R. WILLIAMS, County Counsel (S.B. #271253) DOUGLAS M. PRESS, Assistant County Counsel (S.B. #168740) MELISSA KINIYALOCTS, Lead County Counsel (S.B. #215814) DAVID MCDONOUGH, Deputy County Counsel (S.B. #250251) *SUSAN P. GREENBERG, Deputy County Counsel (S.B. #318055)

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeal Correctly Found That Plaintiffs'
Reimbursement Claims, No Matter How Styled, Fall within the
Ambit of the Government Claims Act

Plaintiffs' reimbursement claims, however framed, fall within the scope of the immunity provisions of the Government Claims Act and thus must, as the Court of Appeal correctly determined, be authorized by statute to survive. The Act's substantive immunity provisions extend to any claims for "money or damages" other than contract claims and forbid such claims unless "otherwise provided by statute"—a limiting term preserving for the Legislature strict control over when damages claims may be asserted in civil suits against the state or its subdivisions. (Gov. Code, §§ 814, 815.) Unlike the mandamus cases cited in the opening brief, Plaintiffs here do not seek an order compelling the County to comply with a ministerial duty, but rather seek adjudication by a factfinder of a quantum of compensatory damages.

Indeed, Plaintiffs have never previously argued that they do not seek "money or damages." Should the Court nevertheless consider Plaintiffs' new arguments, they are incorrect: a reimbursement action asserts claims for "money or damages" within the meaning of the Act because it seeks, as its primary purpose, pecuniary, compensatory relief. And this Court has

not, as Plaintiffs suggest, held that the Act's reach extends only to claims traditionally considered by courts to be "torts." Instead, this Court has held, consistent with the Act's plain language, that sovereign immunity applies to non-contractual claims for "money or damages."

A. Plaintiffs Did Not Argue in the Superior Court or Court of Appeal That They Do Not Seek "Money or Damages"

While Plaintiffs now urge that their proposed claims would not constitute causes of action for "money or damages," they advanced no such argument in the Superior Court or the Court of Appeal. Rather, Plaintiffs alleged that they timely presented claims and brought suit "as required by the Government Claims Act"—allegations that presuppose that the claims seek "money or damages." (E.g., App. 290.)

Plaintiffs also did not argue in either court below that immunity applies only to claims traditionally considered by courts to constitute "torts." Nor did Plaintiffs contend that they sought to vindicate a purely statutory obligation with no common law corollary. Thus, Plaintiffs failed to develop any of these points below. (*In re Joshua S.* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 261, 272, citing Rule 8.500(c)(1).) This Court should therefore decline to consider the belated and self-contradictory argument that Plaintiffs do not seek "money or damages" and related arguments about the scope of the Government Claims Act—although they are, as demonstrated below, incorrect in any event.

B. A Reimbursement Claim Seeks "Money or Damages" Because Its Primary Purpose Is to Obtain an Adjudication by a Factfinder of a Quantum of Compensatory Damages

Should the Court reach the issue, Plaintiffs' claims seek "money or damages" within the meaning of the Government Claims Act because a "reimbursement" action seeks, as its primary purpose, pecuniary, compensatory relief. The Government Claims Act reserves to the Legislature the sole prerogative to determine, within constitutional limits, whether and when damages claims asserted against a private party may also be asserted against a public entity. The Act refers to both "damages" and "money" with a limited set of exceptions identified by statute. (Gov. Code, § 905 [excluding, for example, claims for tax exemption and public assistance].)

Under the statute's plain language, all other claims seeking pecuniary relief fall within the scope of the phrase "money or damages." (*Ibid.*) Moreover, precedent establishes that "money or damages," used both in the Act's provisions addressing immunity and claims presentation (Gov. Code, §§ 814, 905), must be construed as "comprehensive in scope." (*Loehr v. Ventura Cnty. Cmty. Coll. Dist.* (1983) 147 Cal.App.3d 1071, 1079; see also *City of Stockton v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 730, 739–40; *Stillwell v. State Bar* (1946) 29 Cal.2d 119, 123 [words or phrases

should be given same scope and meaning within different portions of a law].)

The breadth of "money or damages" is, to the extent relevant, only further confirmed by the legislative history. (Recommendation Relating to the Presentation of Claims Against Public Entities (Jan. 1959) Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1959) p. A17; Recommendation Relating to Sovereign Immunity (Jan. 1963) 4 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1963) pp. 811–12.)⁷ In reviewing the interpretation of various prior claims presentation provisions, the Law Revision Commission concluded that while "money" was typically understood to be broader than and inclusive of "damages," there were in some instances distinctions in how the two terms were understood. (Recommendation Relating to the Presentation of Claims Against Public Entities (Jan. 1959) Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1959) pp. A44, A82–A83.) By including both "money or damages" within the scope of immunized claims, the Legislature adopted the broadest definition short of applying immunity to all claims, including those seeking injunctive relief.

Plaintiffs' reimbursement claims are "pecuniary" and fall within the broad scope of claims for "money or damages" because their "primary

⁷ The Legislature largely adopted the comments of the Law Revision Commission, except where the recommended text was altered by the Legislature or as noted in the Assembly and Senate Committee Reports. (*Quigley v. Garden Valley Fire Protection Dist.*, *supra*, 7 Cal.5th 798, 804.)

purpose" is to obtain adjudication of a quantum of compensatory damages. (Canova v. Trustees of Imperial Irrigation Dist. Employee Pension Plan (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 1487, 1493 (Canova).) The cases cited by Plaintiffs confirm this point. In Canova, for example, the court found that the portion of the pleading seeking compensation for an alleged breach of contract constituted a claim for "money or damages." (Canova, supra, 150 Cal.App.4th at p. 1493.) Only the request to compel defendants to invalidate the rollover of a pension plan fell outside the scope of a "damages" claim, because—unlike here—that claim sought adjudication of non-pecuniary issues that would only indirectly and incidentally have financial implications. (Ibid.)

In Los Angeles Unified School Dist. v. Superior Court, the court held that certain penalties are not "damages" because they apply irrespective of injury and do not serve a compensatory function. (Los Angeles Unified School Dist. v. Superior Court (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 549, 566, review granted Sept. 1, 2021, S269608.) Similarly, in Kizer v. County of San Mateo, this Court held that immunity does not apply to civil penalties that have no "compensatory" function. (Kizer v. County of San Mateo (1991) 53 Cal.3d 139, 145.) Plaintiffs, by contrast, allege an injury and seek compensatory relief—not the imposition of a statutory penalty.

Plaintiffs argue that they seek only to vindicate a statutory duty. But the quantum of reimbursement fixed by a factfinder after a trial is based on

an elastic factual inquiry that does not meaningfully speak to whether the County reasonably complied with statutory requirements in the first instance. (RJN Ex. H, at p. 4 DMHC explanation that the Reimbursement Regulation sets forth "minimum" and non-exclusive criteria for compliance, which do not limit courts in adjudicating quantum meruit claims].) Indeed, as one Court of Appeal has keenly observed, "persons of common intelligence" would differ as to the reasonable and customary rate, such that it is "impossible" for a plan "to definitively know" the reasonable and customary value of emergency medical services that a jury might fix long after the fact, based on a different mix of information. (Long Beach Memorial Medical Ctr. v. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc. (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 323, 346.) It is this weighing of new and different evidence after the fact to fix a quantum of damages that is the object of a reimbursement claim, not compliance with a regulatory obligation that only incidentally holds financial implications.

Plaintiffs also urge this Court to attribute significance to the use of the word "reimbursement" rather than "damages" in the Knox-Keene Act. (OB 27.) But Plaintiffs certainly seek "money," and it is unsurprising that the Legislature did not refer to "damages," as the relevant provisions of the Knox-Keene Act neither authorize nor focus on civil litigation. In any case, "reimbursement" is defined by the Reimbursement Regulation, which enumerates criteria intended to capture, in part, common law damages

concepts. (*Children's Hospital*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1271–72; see also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 28, § 1300.71, subd. (a)(3)(B).) The Knox-Keene Act and accompanying regulations in turn contemplate informal dispute resolution and, if necessary, an administrative enforcement action in which the DMHC requires a plan to craft its own compliant methodology—not litigation inviting a factfinder to displace the County's chosen methodology with a range of other criteria, without balancing the public policy and health care goals that the County is tasked with managing.

Plaintiffs also argue that they seek merely to recoup their costs to avoid a purported "shortfall," not to pursue damages. (E.g., OB 15; Petn. 13 ["a claim for reimbursement seeks no more than recompense for the claimant's expenditures on the health plan's behalf"].) The County does not understand the basis for this suggestion. Plaintiffs have never alleged that the County's reimbursement did not cover their costs, much less asserted a claim for costs. Rather, Plaintiffs seek their full-billed charges, either as the alleged "reasonable and customary" rate under the Knox-Keene Act or, alternatively, because there is no "rate set by law." (E.g., App. 286–90. 469–70, 487–88.)

Indeed, Plaintiffs' billed charges were, according to their own publicly available regulatory submissions, more than *ten times* their costs during the two relevant years. (RJN Exs. I, J, K, L.) If anything, Plaintiffs'

allegation that the County paid 20% of their grossly inflated charges (OB 9, 15) reflects that the County reimbursed Plaintiffs at a more than adequate rate—it is the denominator that is the problem here, not the numerator.⁸ In any event, courts have rebuffed parties' efforts to rely on evidence of costs in actions for reimbursement for emergency services. (E.g., *Children's Hospital*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1278 [reimbursement claim does not seek to measure costs].)

C. Plaintiffs' Claims Undisputedly Do Not Sound in Contract

Plaintiffs do not challenge the Court of Appeal's determination that their reimbursement claims do not sound in contract—and rightly so. (County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1033–35.) As a threshold matter, Plaintiffs "implied-in-law contract" claim is not a contract claim at all. "Quantum meruit" and "implied-in-law contract" are synonymous terms. (McBride v. Boughton (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 379, 388 fn. 6.) "The so-called 'contract implied in law' in reality is not a contract" because it is not "based on the apparent intention of the parties to undertake the performances in question, nor" is it a "promise." (McBride, at p. 388, fn. 6, quoting Weitzenkorn v. Lesser (1953) 40 Cal.2d 778, 794.) Thus, a quantum meruit claim does not fall

⁸ And despite comparing the County to the defendant in *Bell* (e.g., OB 36), Plaintiffs have not alleged, nor could they, that the County failed to reimburse Plaintiffs at the Medicare rate as Blue Cross did (nor anything remotely approaching that rate).

within the exception to immunity for contract claims set forth in Government Code section 814.9

Nor do Plaintiffs quarrel with the Court of Appeal's dismissal of their claims to the extent they were predicated on breach of implied-in-fact contract. As the Court correctly found, there can be no contract where neither party undertook an obligation to do anything beyond that which it was *already* required to do by statute. (*County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court, supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1033–35; see also Health & Saf. Code, § 1371.4 [referring to "non-contracted" providers]; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 28, §§ 1300.71, 1300.71.38 [same].)

In any case, Plaintiffs' allegations of partial payment and subsequent denial of administrative appeals (E.g., App. 290–93) do not demonstrate that there was ever a meeting of the minds as to the rate of payment. (Allied Anesthesia Medical Group, Inc. v. Inland Empire Health Plan, supra, 80 Cal.App.5th at pp. 808–10.) Further, as the Court of Appeal correctly found in an analysis unchallenged here, Plaintiffs' allegations of partial payment were insufficient to make out a claim for breach of contract, because the County is authorized to enter into contracts only through its Board of Supervisors. (County of Santa Clara v. Superior

⁹ For avoidance of confusion and consistent with the Sixth District's analysis, the County will use the term "quantum meruit."

Court, supra, 77 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1033–35.) Plaintiffs made no allegation to demonstrate that the Board entered into a contract. (*Ibid.*)

D. The Legislature Did Not Limit the Scope of the Government Claims Act to Causes of Action Traditionally Considered by Courts to Be Torts

Plaintiffs err in suggesting—for the first time, in this Court—that the Government Claims Act can *only* apply to claims traditionally considered by courts to be torts. Rather, the plain language of the statute demonstrates that immunity applies to all claims for "money or damages" other than contract claims. (Gov. Code, §§ 814, 815.) While resort to legislative history is thus unnecessary, the legislative history discloses that the Legislature deliberately chose not to use the word "tort" to describe the scope of immunity, to ensure that only the express statutory language, rather than judicial classification of causes of action, would control the scope of immunity. (Recommendation Relating to Sovereign Immunity (Jan. 1963) 4 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1963) p. 837.)

To be sure, courts sometimes use the word "tort" as a shorthand for the non-contractual damages claims covered by the Act. This shorthand appears to originate in case law indicating that, under the Government Claims Act, all non-contractual claims for money or damages are essentially treated as "torts." (E.g., *Arthur L. Sachs, Inc. v. City of Oceanside* (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 315, 322 (*Sachs*)). In *Sachs*, for example, the appellate court explained that, in the context of the

Government Claims Act, "breach of a noncontractual duty" is considered "tortious." (*Ibid.*) The same analytical structure was applied by the Court of Appeal here. (*County of Santa Clara, supra*, 77 Cal.App.5th at p. 1035 [finding that claims were "tortious rather than contractual"].)¹⁰

But this Court has not, as Plaintiffs suggest, held that the metes and bounds of substantive immunity are set by common law definitions of "tort" rather than the express statutory language. To the contrary, this Court "adopt[ed] the practice of referring to the claims statutes as the 'Government Claims Act,' to avoid the confusion about the broad reach of encompassed claims, previously engendered by the informal short title 'Tort Claims Act.'" (*City of Stockton v. Superior Court, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 734.)

The cases cited by Plaintiffs thus do not reflect judicial imposition of an extra-textual limitation on legislatively imposed sovereign immunity. Plaintiffs cite language from *City of Dinuba v. County of Tulare* for the proposition that the substantive immunity provisions of the Government Claims Act are "only concerned with shielding public entities from having to pay money damages for torts." (*City of Dinuba v. County of Tulare* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 859, 867 (*Dinuba*).) But the Court immediately

¹⁰ Moreover, the legislative history suggests the Legislature understood the universe of claims for "money or damages" as limited, dichotomously, to either tort or contract claims. (E.g., Recommendation Relating to the Presentation of Claims Against Public Entities (Jan. 1959) Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1959) pp. A43-A44.)

proceeded in the next sentence to explain what it meant: namely, that "liability based on contract or the right to obtain relief other than money damages is unaffected by the Act." (*Ibid.*)¹¹ *Dinuba* also addressed a very different type of claim. The petitioners there sought to correct clerical errors that had resulted in miscoding of tax parcels—relief that was conceded by all parties to require only ministerial acts by the public entity (*supra* at 64-65)—making the case appropriate for resolution via mandamus.

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